Modeling Acute Compartment Syndrome

Drew Schupbach, MD

Experimental Surgery

McGill University, Montreal

August, 2020

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters in Experimental Surgery

©Drew Schupbach 2020

Contents

Abstract
English
French
Acknowledgements4
Contribution of Authors
Introduction5
Methods7
Infusion Pump and Pressure Sensor Methods7
Lower Leg Model Methods8
Abdominal Model Methods10
Foot Model Methods
Statistics
Results
All Models13
Lower Leg Results14
Abdominal Results16
Foot Model Results
Discussion17
Conclusions
References

Abstract

English

Acute compartment syndrome occurs when elevated pressure compromises blood supply to an area of the body and is treated by surgical release of the pressure. It continues to be a condition associated with morbid outcomes that is difficult to diagnose and study. New sensor technology affords the opportunity to advance our understanding and management. This work utilized a continuous pressure sensor to model compartment syndrome in three models, human cadaver leg, live rat abdominal, and human cadaver foot. Each model was utilized to study an element of compartment syndrome including relationship between compartments, sensor location, and pressure release. This thesis describes successfully modeling compartment syndrome level pressures and reports on the relevant findings for each model.

French

Le syndrome du compartiment aigu se produit lorsque la pression élevée compromet l'apport sanguin à une zone du corps et est traitée par une libération chirurgicale de la pression. Elle continue d'être une condition associée à des issues morbides qui est difficile à diagnostiquer et à étudier. La nouvelle technologie des capteurs offre la possibilité de faire progresser notre compréhension et notre gestion. Ce travail a utilisé un capteur de pression continu pour modéliser le syndrome du compartiment dans trois modèles, jambe de cadavre humain, ventre de rat vivant et pied de cadavre humain. Chaque modèle a été utilisé pour étudier un élément du syndrome des loges, y compris la relation entre les compartiments, l'emplacement du capteur et la libération de pression. Cette thèse décrit avec succès la modélisation des pressions au niveau du syndrome des loges et rend compte des résultats pertinents pour chaque modèle.

Acknowledgements

The author would like the thank and acknowledge his supervisors, Dr. Harvey and Dr. Merle, for their invaluable support, guidance, and the amazing opportunity to work on this project. Thank you to the research committee chair, Dr. Fiore, and the other committee members, Dr. Bernstein and Dr. Mwale, for their valuable insight and counsel in the thesis process. Thank you to the MY01 team for providing equipment necessary for the research and data collection. The author acknowledges the contributions of his co-research, Dr. Yazan Honjol, for his countless contributions to the research planning, execution, and analysis. Finally, the author acknowledges the project coordinators, Anne Mathiot and Mary Amedeo for their help in facilitating the logistical components of the research.

Contribution of Authors

- Drew Schupbach, MD Primary author of thesis. Intricately involved with project design, planning, execution, data analysis, and literature review.
- Yazan Honjol, MD Co-researcher. Assisted with project planning, execution, and literature review.
- Geraldine Merle Co-Primary Investigator. Provided resources and guidance throughout project planning, data analysis, and thesis revision.
- Edward Harvey Co-Primary Investigator. Provided resources and clinical expertise during project design, execution, and thesis revision.

Introduction

Acute Compartment Syndrome (ACS) is a condition where elevated pressures within a fascial compartment in the body compromise its blood supply leading to death of the tissues within. While a simple concept from a physics standpoint, its clinical presentation, diagnosis, and treatment present a more complex picture. This also makes study difficult, but still is a crucial initiative to advance diagnosis and treatment. New technological advances in pressure sensors have provided us with the opportunity to better study and manage this condition. The objective of this work was to use a novel but validated pressure sensor (MY01) to create models of compartment syndrome for the foot, abdomen, and lower leg to better understand the condition and how to manage it.

Acute compartment syndrome most commonly occurs in the extremities as a result of trauma and swelling, but can also occur in the abdominal cavity due to abdominal hypertension.[1, 2] The incidence of extremity ACS is estimated at 3.1 per 100,000 people/yr with a strong male predominance (1-9% of lower extremity fracture reported).[3] Currently the diagnosis of compartment syndrome is primarily through clinical symptoms of ischemia with pressure measurement used as an adjunct. Treatment of ACS involves emergent release of the pressure through fasciotomy.[4] If not released within a few hours, it can progress to tissue death resulting in paralysis, loss of limb, or even death.[5] Early research suggested that a compartment was at risk with an absolute pressure as low as 30 mmHg.[6-8] More recent studies have shown that the continuous monitoring of the difference in diastolic pressure and compartment pressure may be more sensitive with sensitivities reported as high as 94%, compared to reported sensitivity of clinical symptoms of 13-19%.[9, 10] The clinical heterogenicity of ACS and the lack of reliable clinical pressure sensors have prevented a true gold standard pressure diagnosis. The ongoing need for more reliable diagnosis is highlighted in the prevalence of malpractice lawsuits involving missed diagnoses.[11]

Modeling compartment syndrome has been challenging due to its heterogenous presentation and complex physiology. In vivo human models are limited to reversible induction via tourniquet due to obvious ethical restrictions.[3] True compartment syndrome models therefore are studied using animal and cadaver studies. Cadaver models are limited to infusion of saline or colloid to increase intercompartmental pressure due to the absence of physiology. Animal models most commonly utilize ischemia-reperfusion through tourniquet/direct pressure, or infusion of saline to induce pressure.[3, 12] Both methods have shown success in recreating compartment syndrome level pressures. Models of both extremity and abdominal compartment syndrome are reported in animals. Many different species have been utilized including canine[8], porcine[13], rodent[14], rabbit[15], and turkey[16]. One of the main problems both clinically and subsequently in research is the lack of availability and variability in pressure measuring techniques. Clinically, arterial pressure lines and the Stryker pressure needle are commonly used in extremities.[3] Neither has shown reliability in ACS monitoring and the Stryker needle was recently removed from the market.[17] A recent review of pressure measuring in compartment syndrome studies showed 38 different non-invasive modalities and 35 invasive modalities.[3] Near infrared spectroscopy was the most common non-invasive, but correlation with pressure is variable between patients and can be difficult to standardize.[18, 19]

Recent advances in microfabrication have produced miniaturized sensors that are revolutionizing many different fields, including medicine. A novel continuous pressure sensor (MY01) utilizing micro-electro-mechanical-system (MEMS) technology has been recently developed and already approved for clinical use. This technology has been validated in an in vivo compartment syndrome model and shown to have 670% superior precision in comparison to Synthes and Stryker pressure sensors.[20] The primary investigators of this project represent an academic-corporate relationship with interests in the corporate entity in the form of ownership and future possible stock holdings. Based on the continued evidence that continuous pressure monitoring has a role in diagnosing compartment syndrome[9, 21, 22], this device has the potential to provide reliable, much needed clinical information. It is currently the only device to offer continuous pressure readouts.

For this project, the pressure sensor was used to study three different ACS models. A lower leg compartment syndrome model was studied using human cadavers, an abdominal compartment syndrome model using live rats, and a foot compartment syndrome model using human

cadavers. These models were chosen based on their thorough descriptions in the literature and are also among the most common locations for compartment syndrome.[22, 23] Each model was utilized to investigate a different aspect of compartment syndrome. In the lower leg model, the functional relationships of the four anatomical compartments was explored through alternating pressurization sequences. In the abdominal model, the accuracy of retroperitoneal monitoring compared to intraperitoneal monitoring was investigated. For the foot model, the presence of discrete compartments and the ability to decompress the forefoot through percutaneous incisions was studied. A saline infusion pump was utilized for all three models based its reported success in achieving ACS level pressure and to have uniformity between models.[3] This thesis describes successful modeling of compartment syndrome in three scenarios, the results of each scenario, and the clinical and academic implications.

Methods

Infusion Pump and Pressure Sensor Methods

All three models utilized the same pressure-controlled infusion pump (Figure 1) and pressure monitoring setup. A PHD ULTRA™, Syringe Pump Series (Harvard Apparatus) was utilized with an inline Hugo-Sachs Elecktronik, APT300, pressure sensor (Harvard Apparatus). The pump was loaded with four 60 mL syringes filled with normal saline (0.9% NaCl) and programmed to adjust an infusion rate to maintain a set pressure as measured by the inline sensor. Syringes were connected with IV tubing that merged into one line at the inline pressure sensor before splitting into 4 individual infusion lines with stopcocks and terminating as 14G catheters as depicted in Figure 2. Pressure sensor was zeroed according to device instructions before each infusion. Continuous pressure monitoring of the compartments was done using the MEMS pressure sensor (MY01). Placement of both infusion catheters and sensor tips was confirmed using an ultrasound device (Philips Lumify L12-4 Transducer). The infusion pump and pressure sensor were set to record pressure and volume once per second. Data was recorded continuously by the sensor and continuously during infusion by the pump.



Figure 1. Infusion pump with syringes.



Figure 2. Diagram of inline pressure sensor and infusion catheters.

Lower Leg Model Methods

Fresh frozen human cadaver legs (n=8) amputated above the knee were allowed to equilibrate at room temperature. The legs were examined to exclude any signs of systemic disease or surgical scars that could suggest compromised anatomy. Bolsters were placed under the knee and ankle to minimized disturbance of the compartments and maintain consistent elevation in each compartment. One infusion line catheter was placed in a proximal-to-distal fashion in each of the four lower leg compartments (anterior, lateral, posterior, deep posterior). One MY01 device was inserted per device protocol into each compartment centrally in the distal ½ of the compartment. After ultrasound confirmation of placement, baseline pressures were noted.

Infusion was performed one compartment at a time. The pump pressure setpoint was set between 25-30 mmHg. For each sample, the compartments were infused sequentially. Each compartment was infused aiming for a stable pressure >30 mmHg for at least 5 min before proceeding to the next compartment making note of the stable pressure for each compartment. Once all compartments were pressurized, a standard lateral incision using the fibular head as reference was performed and each compartment was released sequentially noting the pressures after each release.[24, 25] The sequence of infusion and fasciotomy (**Table 1**) was alternated between samples in order to investigate the effect of sequence on individual compartment pressures.

Leg #	Infusion Sequence				Fascioto	my Seque	nce	
	A = Anterior L = Lateral P			P = Posterior D = Deep				
	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	1st	2nd	3rd	4th
Leg 1	А	L	Р	D	А	L	Р	D
Leg 2	L	А	Р	D	L	А	Р	D
Leg 3	Р	D	А	L	Р	D	А	L
Leg 4	D	Р	А	L	Р	D	L	А
Leg 5	D	А	L	Р	Р	А	L	D
Leg 6	А	D	Р	L	А	Р	L	D
Leg 7	D	Р	L	А	А	L	Р	D
Leg 8	D	L	Р	А	L	Р	А	D
Leg 9	D	L	А	Р	L	А	Р	D
Leg 10	D	Р	A	L	Р	L	A	D

 Table 1: Infusion and fasciotomy sequence of lower leg model

Abdominal Model Methods

Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8) acquired from the retired breeders maintained at the Charles River facility rats were prepared for surgery as per institutional procedures (SOP 531.01, SOP 201.02). The animals were anesthetized by breathing isoflurane in an induction box and mask. Anesthesia was maintained with isoflurane throughout the entire experiment and euthanasia. The animals were placed on a heating plate and the abdomen and back were shaved and sterilized with surgical scrub chlorhexidine. Retroperitoneal placement of the MY01 sensors was accomplished by inserting per device protocol from the posterior aspect of the rat into the anterior paraspinal muscles (Figure 3). Placement was alternated from right to left paraspinal muscles between rats. A second pressure device was placed intra peritoneally via an anterior abdominal approach. A single pump catheter was inserted into the abdomen via on anterior and the other three infusion lines closed. The position of the rat during infusion was alternated from supine to prone between rats. The baseline pressure prior to beginning infusion is monitored for 5 minutes. In order to minimize the volume required for induction of ACS level pressure, we utilized a simple external support of the abdominal wall. A split soft cast (Figure 4) was loosely modeled around the abdomen of an anesthetized animal as described by Meier et al. [26] After baseline pressure were noted, infusion was performed until stable pressures >30 mmHg were achieved for at least 5 min. The pump was set to 20 mmHg. After monitoring was completed, the position of the sensors was again confirmed via ultrasound to ensure no significant motion during the infusion. Once completed the animals were anesthetized according to institutional procedures.





Figure 3. Ultrasound view of sensor tip located in anterior paraspinal muscle.

Figure 4. Anesthetized rat in split Plaster cast with inserted sensors and catheters

Foot Model Methods

Fresh frozen human cadaver legs (n=8) amputated above the knee were allowed to equilibrate at room temperature. The legs were examined to exclude any signs of systemic disease or surgical scars that could suggest compromised anatomy. Bolsters were placed under the knee and ankle to minimized disturbance of the compartments and maintain consistent elevation in each compartment. For this model, the major compartments of the forefoot were utilized excluding the interossei compartments. There is not a clear consensus on the number of compartments in the forefoot, but it is generally accepted that there is a lateral compartment, a central compartment (superficial), a medial compartment, and an adductor compartment. [27-29] One infusion line catheter was placed in a proximal-to-distal fashion in each of the four forefoot compartments being studied (medial, adductor, central, lateral). One MY01 device was inserted per device protocol into each compartment centrally in the distal ½ of the compartment. After ultrasound confirmation of placement, baseline pressures were noted, and all compartments were simultaneously infused until stable pressure >30 mmHg was achieved for a minimum of 5 minutes in all compartments. The pump setpoint was set to 25 mmHg. Once

pressurized, infusion was stopped, and a dorsal decompression was performed through two 1 cm incisions located just medial to the midpoint (4 cm from webspace) of the 2nd metatarsal and just lateral to the midpoint (4 cm from webspace) of the 4th metatarsal. Using blunt dissection with Metzenbaum scissors, release of forefoot compartments (medial, lateral, superficial, and adductor) was performed as seen diagrammed in **Figure 5**. This technique was determined based on described fasciotomy techniques [28, 29], and by clinical experience of the primary investigator. Once pressures had stabilized post release, a surgical dissection (**Figure 6**) was performed to evaluate for any soft tissue damage and proximity to incisions. Structures that were identified and examined include cutaneous nerve branches, extensor tendons, and dorsalis pedis artery. Any identifiable injuries and proximity to vital structures were noted.



Figure 5. Diagram of forefoot release (M: Medial, A: Adductor, S: Superficial/Central, L: Lateral).



Figure 6. Post fasiotomy dissection.

Statistics

Statistical analysis of baseline, infusion, and post fasciotomy pressures was reported as mean and standard deviation. Statistical difference was determined using students T-test, α =0.05. Pearson correlation coefficient was used to determine relationships between pump setpoint and compartment pressures and relationship of intraperitoneal to extraperitoneal pressure readings. Confidence intervals reported using 95% confidence intervals. All statistical analysis done using Microsoft Excel.

Results

All Models

For all three models, continuous pressure monitoring was accomplished using a novel continuous pressure sensor, MY01 (NXTSens Inc., Montreal, Canada). The compartment pressures at baseline, during infusion, and after release corresponded to target values and the averages are shown in **Tables 3-5**. Pressures rises to >30 mmHg were accomplished in all compartments in all models with return to near baseline after release in the foot and lower leg models (Avg 9.5, SD 2.5). The inline arterial sensor pressure was found to not accurately represent compartment pressure when compared to the intra-compartmental MY01 device. The infusion pump was able to adjust the infusion rate based on the inline arterial sensor pressure reading and perfectly maintain the setpoint pressure during the duration of all infusions. The Pearson correlation coefficient between the setpoint pressure and all pressure measurements across infusion was 0. The differences between stable infusion pressure and pump setpoint are shown in **Table 2**.

Table 2. Difference between pump setpoint pressure and stable infusion compartmentpressure.

Model	Setpoint (mmHg)	Avg (Infusion P – Setpoint P) (mmHg)	SD (mmHg)
Foot	25	19.1	7.7
Abdomen	20	22.8	5.9
Lower Leg	25-30	14.8	10.9

Table 3. Baseline pre	ssure averages f	for all	models.
------------------------------	------------------	---------	---------

Model	Avg(mmHg)	SD(mmHg)	Max(mmHg)	Min(mmHg)
Foot	4.5	2.9	11	1
Abdomen	6.4	3.2	12	3
Lower Leg	2.5	2.1	9	1

Model	Avg(mmHg)	SD(mmHg)	Max(mmHg)	Min(mmHg)
Foot	43.8	7.7	60	31
Abdomen	43	7.4	56	31
Lower Leg	42.3	11.2	62	20

Table 4. Stable Infusion pressures for all models.

Table 5. Average post fasciotomy pressures for all models.

Model	Avg (mmHg)	SD (mmHg)	Max (mmHg)	Min (mmHg)
Foot	9.5	3.6	16	0
Abdomen	х	х	х	х
Lower Leg	3.8	2.4	9	1

Lower Leg Results

The average volume infused per leg was 540 mL with a SD of 183.5 mL. The average volume per compartment is detailed in **Table 6**. The average pressures across all compartments was listed prior in **Tables 3-5**. The average pressures for each individual compartment are shown below in **Table 7**. The infusion pressures reported are the pressures in that compartment at the time it was individually infused. The infusion pressures for the anterior, lateral, and posterior compartments were all >30 mmHg regardless of infusion sequence. For the posterior compartment, a pressure >30 was not able to be achieved in 3/10 samples at the time of individual infusion. All three instances occurred when the deep posterior compartment was the first compartment infused. At the time of fasciotomy, the pressure in all compartments was >30 mmHg for all samples.

Compartment	Average Volume (mL)	Average % of total	% SD
Anterior	77.9	14%	11%
Lateral	47.0	8%	4%
Posterior	218.1	38%	22%
Deep Posterior	187.1	38%	26%

Table 6. Average volume infused in each compartment.

Table 7. Average pressures for each compartment in the lower leg model at baseline, stable infusion pressure, and after release.

Compartment	Baseline (mmHg)	Max/Min (mmHg)	Infusion (mmHg)	Max/Min (mmHg)	Released (mmHg)	Max/Min (mmHg)
Anterior	2.6	9/1	47.4	60/33	4.9	9/1
Lateral	1.5	5/1	47.6	55/32	2.4	5/1
Posterior	3.8	9/1	39.8	60/32	4.8	9/1
Deep Posterior	2	5/1	34.6	50/20	3.2	7/1

The variation in pressure relative to infusion sequence for the deep posterior compartment was further examined by looking at the samples where the deep posterior compartment was infused first (n=6). The three times a pressure >30 mmHg was achieved, two of the three were accompanied by a rise in pressure >30 mmHg in an adjacent compartment (anterior or posterior). The was also a significant difference between the percent volume infused into the deep posterior when infused first vs. last: $54\pm14\%$ vs. $5\pm1\%$ (p value: 0.009). The deep posterior compartment was also found to be decompressed by release of the other three compartments. When the deep posterior compartment was the last compartment released (n=8) the average pressure just prior to release was 8 ± 1 mmHg as seen in **Table 8**.

Sample Number	Highest Infusion pressure (When DP Infused First)	Pressure prior to release (When DP Released Last)
Leg 1	x	9 mmHg
Leg 2	x	11 mmHg
Leg 3	x	x
Leg 4	20 mmHg	x
Leg 5	21 mmHg	6 mmHg
Leg 6	x	4 mmHg
Leg 7	41 mmHg	8 mmHg
Leg 8	40 mmHg	9 mmHg
Leg 9	27 mmHg	10 mmHg
Leg 10	50 mmHg	8 mmHg

Table 8. The Deep Posterior Compartment (DP) In Isolation

Abdominal Results

For the rat intraperitoneal model, seven of eight rats were used in statistical analysis due to one of the rats having a retroperitoneal sensor that dislodged during the infusion. The average volume infused was 191. 5 mL with a SD of 30.2 mL.

The retroperitoneal sensor readings closely mirrored the readings of the intraperitoneal sensor as is demonstrated in the example graph of the two pressures over the infusion period in **Figure 7**. When the paired readings across all samples were compared, the Pearson Correlation Coefficient was 0.99. While there was a statistically significant (p>0.05) difference between the retroperitoneal measurements and intraperitoneal, the average absolute difference was only 2.2 mmHg with an SD of 1.4 mmHg. The retroperitoneal sensor true average was -0.9 \pm 0.06 mmHg less than the intraperitoneal sensor.



Figure 7. Example of continuous pressure readings from retroperitoneal (RP) and intraperitoneal (IP) sensors compared to volume infused.

Foot Model Results

The average volume infused into each foot (n=8) was 178 mL with a SD of 35.7 mL. Percutaneous decompression produced a statistically significant (p value <0.05) decrease in pressure of all four compartment to well below compartment syndrome levels in all samples. The average pressure decrease was statistically significant at 34.6 mmL with a SD of 7.7 mmHg and a p-value of zero. The average post fasciotomy pressure was 9.5 mmHg with a SD of 3.6 mmHg. Post fasciotomy dissection did not reveal any injuries to soft tissue structures. Proximity measurements revealed that all extensor tendons and arteries were >1cm from the incisions. On three samples a cutaneous nerve branch was identified <1cm from the incision.

Discussion

The ease and reliability demonstrated in the three compartment syndrome models are promising for future studies seeking to investigate ACS using continuous pressure monitoring. Since live human models will always be impossible, the necessity of good modeling techniques will remain paramount. These results are consistent with reported extremity infusion models of achieving compartment pressures of 25-60 mmHg[30-33]. The abdominal model pressures match those seen in colloid infusion rat models (20 mmHg)[26], as well as porcine CO₂ inflation

models (30 mmHg)[34]. The successful continuous monitoring demonstrated in these models has already spurred research using this device into clinical trials in the lower leg, which the results of will be greatly anticipated. Furthermore, the significant discrepancy between inline pressure measurements and compartment pressure measurements provides insight into modeling compartment syndrome. Some studies utilize an inline pressure sensor as representative of compartment pressure.[26, 35] The results of this work suggests that pressure readings measured inline to the infusion may not always be representative of the compartment pressor and the compartment sensor (IV tubing, muscle tissue). Since the inline pressure was not used in the statistical analysis of the individual models, this discrepancy did affect our results. The inline sensor was still utilized throughout the experiment as its feedback enabled a steady pump infusion.

The results of the lower leg model suggest that the deep posterior compartment may not function as a discrete compartment. This is most apparent when looking at the pressure of the DP compartment when the other three compartments had been released (max 12 mmHg). These findings suggest that the deep posterior compartment may not be able to sustain ACS level pressures without adjacent compartment pressurization. This is further supported by the discrepancy in infusion volumes of the DP compartment suggesting fluid leakage out of the compartment. Additionally, the inability of the DP compartment to sustain a pressure >30 when infused first also brings into question its relevance in compartment syndrome. Currently, it is widely accepted that there are four individual compartments and that fasciotomy should ideally release all four individually.[1, 24, 36] Since the clinical population of ACS is young trauma patients, there is certainly reasonably concern that cadaveric specimens may not accurately represent the anatomy of the clinical population. With this in mind, these results certainly do not disprove the functional existence of the DP compartment, but question it enough to make studying it in a clinical population worthwhile.

The abdominal compartment model demonstrated that retroperitoneal pressure monitoring for intra-abdominal compartment syndrome may be a reliable method. While standard diagnosis typically involves intra-vesicular pressure measurements with physical exam being unreliable, debate still exists about the most effective method. [2, 37-40] Since there exists obvious anatomical spatial differences between a rat and human, an attempt should be made to reproduce these promising results in a larger mammal before progressing to clinical trials.

The successful percutaneous decompression of the forefoot in a cadaver model is promising for the development of less invasive treatments for compartment syndrome. In a standard dorsal approach, the infection rate has been shown to be as high as 20% with an average of three additional procedures to close the wound.[41] Successful percutaneous releases have been described previously in chronic compartment syndrome and for single compartment release.[35, 42] With minimally invasive techniques already starting to be employed in the treatment of compartment syndrome, it is only logical to continue to investigate its utility in new locations in an attempt to improve patient outcomes.

While the experiments described were designed to be as robust as possible, several limitations do exist. The lack of physiologic response in cadaveric models does impose some limitation on clinical translatability. Additionally, the sample sizes were adequate for demonstration of modeling and concepts, but larger sample sizes would strengthen the clinical applicability of the results. Finally, the academic-corporate relationship between the primary investigators and MY01 could introduce a source of bias.

Conclusions

The main objective of this project to create three models of compartment syndrome using a novel continuous pressure sensor was successful as demonstrated by the average baseline (4.5 mmHg), pressurized (43 mmHg), and post release (6.1 mmHg) pressures. The functional relationship of lower leg compartments was able to be studied by alternating study sequences and revealed the deep posterior compartment might not be a separate compartment. The rat abdominal model demonstrated the utility of retroperitoneal pressure monitoring by showing a strong correlation (0.99) with intrabdominal pressure and little variation (2.2 \pm 1.4). The success of percutaneous release in the foot model bolsters the push towards more minimally invasive

treatments of ACS. These results have strong implications for the future of modeling compartment syndrome as well as guiding clinical studies in the constant pursuit to improve the management of acute compartment syndrome.

References

- Whitesides, T.E. and M.M. Heckman, Acute compartment syndrome: update on diagnosis and treatment. JAAOS-Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 1996. 4(4): p. 209-218.
- 2. Papavramidis, T.S., et al., *Abdominal compartment syndrome Intra-abdominal hypertension: Defining, diagnosing, and managing.* J Emerg Trauma Shock, 2011. **4**(2): p. 279-91.
- 3. Mortensen, S.J., et al., *Diagnostic modalities for acute compartment syndrome of the extremities: A systematic review.* JAMA surgery, 2019. **154**(7): p. 655-665.
- 4. Shadgan, B., et al., *Current thinking about acute compartment syndrome of the lower extremity.* Canadian Journal of Surgery, 2010. **53**(5): p. 329.
- 5. Cascio, B.M., et al., *Compartment syndrome: time from diagnosis to fasciotomy*. Journal of surgical orthopaedic advances, 2005. **14**(3): p. 117.
- 6. Matsen, F.A., et al., *Monitoring of intramuscular pressure*. Surgery, 1976. **79**(6): p. 702-709.
- 7. Hargens, A.R., et al., *Tissue fluid pressures: from basic research tools to clinical applications.* Journal of orthopaedic research, 1989. **7**(6): p. 902-909.
- 8. Hargens, A.R., et al., *Quantitation of skeletal-muscle necrosis in a model compartment syndrome*. The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume, 1981. **63**(4): p. 631-636.
- 9. McQueen, M.M., A.D. Duckworth, and S.A. Aitken, *The estimated sensitivity and specificity of compartment pressure monitoring for acute compartment syndrome.* JBJS, 2013. **95**(8): p. 673-677.
- 10. Ulmer, T., *The clinical diagnosis of compartment syndrome of the lower leg: are clinical findings predictive of the disorder?* Journal of orthopaedic trauma, 2002. **16**(8): p. 572-577.
- 11. Phair, J., et al., *Malpractice Litigation for Compartment Syndrome*. Annals of vascular surgery, 2020.
- 12. Kalns, J., et al., *Threshold model for extremity compartment syndrome in swine*. Journal of Surgical Research, 2011. **167**(1): p. e13-e19.
- 13. Kalns, J., et al., *Threshold model for extremity compartment syndrome in swine*. The Journal of surgical research, 2011. **167**(1): p. 13-9.
- 14. Kim, J., et al., *Hemodynamic changes in rat leg muscles during tourniquet-induced ischemiareperfusion injury observed by near-infrared spectroscopy.* 2009. **30**(7): p. 529.
- 15. Daly, K.A., et al., *A rabbit model of peripheral compartment syndrome with associated rhabdomyolysis and a regenerative medicine approach for treatment.* 2011. **17**(6): p. 631-640.
- 16. Toyoshima, Y., et al., *Ultrasound shear wave elastography for measuring intracompartmental pressure of compartment syndrome using a turkey hind limb model.* Journal of Biomechanics, 2020. **98**: p. 109427.
- 17. Large, T.M., et al., *Interobserver variability in the measurement of lower leg compartment pressures.* Journal of orthopaedic trauma, 2015. **29**(7): p. 316-321.
- 18. Shuler, M., et al., *Continual near-infrared spectroscopy monitoring in the injured lower limb and acute compartment syndrome: an FDA-IDE trial.* Bone Joint J, 2018. **100**(6): p. 787-797.
- 19. Giannotti, G., et al., *Utility of near-infrared spectroscopy in the diagnosis of lower extremity compartment syndrome.* Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 2000. **48**(3): p. 396-401.
- 20. Merle, G., et al., *Comparison of Three Devices to Measure Pressure for Acute Compartment Syndrome*. Military Medicine, 2020. **185**(Supplement_1): p. 77-81.
- 21. Al-Dadah, O., et al., *Continuous compartment pressure monitoring vs. clinical monitoring in tibial diaphyseal fractures.* Injury, 2008. **39**(10): p. 1204-1209.

- 22. Schmidt, A.H., et al., *Predicting acute compartment syndrome (PACS): the role of continuous monitoring.* Journal of orthopaedic trauma, 2017. **31**: p. S40-S47.
- 23. Newman, R.K., N. Dayal, and E. Dominique, *Abdominal Compartment Syndrome*, in *StatPearls*. 2020: Treasure Island (FL).
- 24. Cooper, G.G., *A method of single-incision, four compartment fasciotomy of the leg.* European journal of vascular surgery, 1992. **6**(6): p. 659-661.
- 25. Maheshwari, R., L.A. Taitsman, and D.P. Barei, *Single-incision fasciotomy for compartmental syndrome of the leg in patients with diaphyseal tibial fractures.* Journal of orthopaedic trauma, 2008. **22**(10): p. 723-730.
- 26. Meier, C., et al., *A new model for the study of the abdominal compartment syndrome in rats.* J Surg Res, 2007. **139**(2): p. 209-16.
- 27. Frink, M., et al., *Compartment Syndrome of the Lower Leg and Foot*. 2010. **468**(4): p. 940-950.
- 28. Fulkerson, E., et al., Acute compartment syndrome of the foot. 2003. **24**(2): p. 180-187.
- 29. Myerson, M.S.J.F. and ankle, *Experimental decompression of the fascial compartments of the foot—the basis for fasciotomy in acute compartment syndromes.* 1988. **8**(6): p. 308-314.
- 30. Mathis, J.E., et al., *Effect of lower extremity fasciotomy length on intracompartmental pressure in an animal model of compartment syndrome: the importance of achieving a minimum of 90% fascial release.* The American journal of sports medicine, 2015. **43**(1): p. 75-78.
- 31. Heckman, M.M., et al., *Histologic determination of the ischemic threshold of muscle in the canine compartment syndrome model.* Journal of orthopaedic trauma, 1993. **7**(3): p. 199-210.
- 32. Lynch, J.E., J.S. Heyman, and A.R. Hargens, *Ultrasonic device for the noninvasive diagnosis of compartment syndrome.* Physiological measurement, 2003. **25**(1): p. N1.
- 33. Lufrano, R., et al., *Comparison of Dorsal Dermal Fascial Fenestrations With Fasciotomy in an Acute Compartment Syndrome Model in the Foot*. Foot & ankle international, 2019. **40**(7): p. 853-858.
- 34. Toens, C., et al., *A porcine model of the abdominal compartment syndrome*. Shock, 2002. **18**(4): p. 316-21.
- 35. Vandergugten, S., et al., *A cadaveric model of anterior compartment leg syndrome: Subcutaneous minimally invasive fasciotomy versus open fasciotomy.* Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research, 2019. **105**(1): p. 167-171.
- 36. Staudt, J., M. Smeulders, and C. van der Horst, *Normal compartment pressures of the lower leg in children.* The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. British volume, 2008. **90**(2): p. 215-219.
- 37. Kirkpatrick, A.W., et al., *Is clinical examination an accurate indicator of raised intra-abdominal pressure in critically injured patients*? Can J Surg, 2000. **43**(3): p. 207-11.
- 38. Malbrain, M.L., *Is it wise not to think about intraabdominal hypertension in the ICU?* Curr Opin Crit Care, 2004. **10**(2): p. 132-45.
- 39. Malbrain, M.L.N.G. *Intra-abdominal Pressure in the Intensive Care Unit: Clinical Tool or Toy*? 2001.
- 40. Malbrain, M.L.N.G., *Different techniques to measure intra-abdominal pressure (IAP): time for a critical re-appraisal.* 2012: p. 13-27.
- 41. Brink, F., et al., *Mechanism of injury and treatment of trauma-associated acute compartment syndrome of the foot.* European journal of trauma and emergency surgery, 2014. **40**(5): p. 529-533.
- 42. Knight, J.R., M. Daniels, and W. Robertson, *Endoscopic compartment release for chronic exertional compartment syndrome*. Arthroscopy techniques, 2013. **2**(2): p. e187-e190.